ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

AUG 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL ERWIN MOON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001793

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense,
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in admitting the DVD of the child's interview with the forensic interviewer because the DVD did not meet the guarantees of trustworthiness pursuant to S.C. Code Section 17-23-175 and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) and thus the court should remand for a new trial on all charges with the forensic interview excluded?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2012, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Michael E. Moon on the charges of committing a lewd act on a child under the age of sixteen, and criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor first degree. On August 12-13, 2013, Moon proceeded to trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. and a jury. Moon was represented by Susannah Ross, and the state was represented by Charles Bondurant. R.1 The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both charges as indicted. R. 132, ll. 1 – 25. Judge Griffith sentenced Moon to twenty-five years on the CSC with a minor first degree, and to ten years on the lewd act charge. Both sentences were to run concurrently to each other. R. 135, ll. 6 – 20. Moon's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael Moon lived with his wife and young daughter, who was born in 2002, in Greenville in a mobile home on property that was owned by his sister. R. 20, ll. 16 – 22. When his daughter was nine years old in 2011, the child told her mother that her father had been touching her sexually. The child then told DSS and the police investigator when they talked to her at school. R. 23, ll. 1 – 25; R. 28, ll. 11 – R. 29, ll. 24; R. 35, ll. 1 – 24.

The child, who was eleven when she testified at trial, said when she was around six or seven years old, her father sexually abused her by touching her private parts with his hand. He touched her vagina on top and her butt. R. 24, ll. 1 – R. 25, ll. 25. He then made her touch his penis and put her mouth on it. R. 26, ll. 19 – R. 28, ll. 10. After she told the police, she went to live with her grandmother, who was her father's mother, for a couple of months. Then she returned to live with her mother. R. 29, ll. 12 – R. 31, ll. 4.

While she was living with her grandmother, she went to the Julie Valentine Center and spoke with a lady there about all of these things. R. 30, ll. 1 – 17. She admitted on cross examination that she told the lady at the Valentine Center more details than she did when she talked to DSS initially. She did not remember talking to DSS again before going to the Valentine Center. R. 31, ll. 10 – R. 32, ll. 9.

Ivette Moon, the child's mother, did not go to the police when the child told her of the alleged abuse because she was scared. She was afraid she would lose custody of the child. She told Moon's mother, whom she trusted. Then the police became involved, and came and talked to Ivette. She told the police what the child told her. R. 34, ll. 6 – 25; R. 35, ll. 1 – R. 38, ll. 23.

Sharon Schoenholz was the sister of Michael Moon, and acted as the landlord for the property where he lived R. 40, ll. 1 – R. 45, ll. 25. She learned of the sexual abuse allegations of her niece from Sharon's mother. Sharon then went to Judge Taylor and told him about it because she was afraid that her brother would leave with the child and the abuse would continue. After this, Sharon was contacted by the police. R. 46, ll. 1 – R. 47, ll. 25.

Investigator Heather Hubert with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office was contacted by the lead investigator, Investigator Mike Robertson, in March 2011 and was told to go to the elementary school and interview a child who had allegations of abuse. Investigator Hubert had advanced training in forensic interviewing of children but did not consider herself to be a professional forensic interviewer. R. 48, ll. 18 – R. 49, ll. 23; R. 50, ll. 1 – R. 51, ll. 1 – 23.

Investigator Hubert called the Department of Social Services (DSS), and a DSS case worker, Pat Aguedello, was assigned to go with the investigator to the school for the interview. The two of them met with the child at school. The child was described as not being hesitant to talk to them. When the child disclosed the abuse, she became apprehensive and guarded. The child said the abuse occurred two years earlier at her home. The interview lasted about thirty to forty minutes. R. 51, ll. 25 – R.54, ll. 24.

After Investigator Hubert talked with Investigator Mike Robertson about the interview, Moon was charged with lewd act on a minor. Investigator Hubert testified that the child had not been interviewed by DSS prior to her interview. Investigator Hubert did not know if the child had talked with DSS again before going to the Valentine Center. R. 56, ll. 1 – 25.

At the Valentine Center, the child was interviewed by Stephanie Smith who was the Empowering Families supervisor with the Specialized Alternatives for Families and Youth at the Julie Valentine Center. R. 68, ll. 10 – 24. She testified at trial that she conducted forensic interviews with children. She had a master's degree in social work, but still received training through the program, Child First. This program taught the protocols of using the RATAAC interviewing technique. It means Rapport, Anatomy identification, Touch inquiry, Abuse scenario, and Closure. She defined RATAAC as: "a semi-structured evidence based interview technique that allows the child to tell information without using leading questions or any kind of information that would put words into their mouth." R. 69, ll. 1 – R. 70, ll. 25.

Ms. Smith interviewed the child in Moon's case when she was referred by Investigator Mike Robertson with allegations of possible sexual abuse. Ms. Smith was given details of the alleged abuse allegations. The child was nine years old at the time of the interview which was in April 2011. Ms. Smith recorded the interview, and then made a copy for the solicitor's office R. 71, ll 15 – R. 73, ll. 25.

On cross examination, Ms. Smith admitted that the child told her that the child had been interviewed by DSS before and told them everything that happened. R. 75, ll. 1 – R. 76, ll. 2.

Investigator Mike Robertson testified that he learned of the alleged sexual abuse allegations in March 2011 from Sharon Schenholz. R. 61, ll 18 – R. 62, ll. 25. Upon learning of the allegations, he sent Investigator Hubert to talk with the child, and he talked with the mother. He then obtained a warrant charging Moon with committing a lewd act on a child. R. 63, ll. 1 – R. 64, ll. 10.

He then scheduled a forensic interview for the child and did attend the interview. Based on that forensic interview at the Valentine Center, he obtained a second warrant charging Moon with criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. R. 64, ll. 13 – R. 65, ll. 16; R. 67, ll. 1 – 8. Investigator Robertson did not know if the child had another interview with DSS or anyone else between the time he obtained the warrant for lewd act and the interview at the Valentine Center. He did know that law enforcement did not interview her again. R. 67, ll. 1 – 25.

The state called Linda Hutton, a clinical social worker, who was qualified by the judge as an expert in sexual abuse. R. 76, ll. 16 – R. 78, ll. 23; R. 84, ll. 5 – 15. She clarified that she did not give opinions as to whether abuse occurred or not because she was in the treatment part and not evaluation. She did not treat this child nor evaluate her in any way. R. 80, ll. 1 – 24. The defense counsel objected to Ms. Hutton being qualified as an expert because her expertise was based solely on her experience and not on any empirical data. R. 81, ll. 22 – R. 83, ll. 4.

The judge limited Ms. Hutton to four points to discuss: (1) delay in reporting by the child; (2) confusion about dates; (3) behavioral changes; (4) physical evidence. Supp. R. 2, ll. 10 - 23. Ms. Hutton testified that it was common for a child to delay reporting the abuse. It was not unusual for children to be confused and get dates mixed up. Significant behavioral changes would not necessarily occur during the abuse unless the child showed sexual knowledge beyond their years. She also said it was common not to have physical evidence. R. 84, ll. 20 - R. 88, ll. 24.

At the close of Ms. Hutton's testimony, the state published the DVD of the forensic interview from Valentine Center for the jury. R. 89, ll. 15 – 24.

Michael Moon was sixty-four years old at the time of trial. He was older than his wife as she was twenty-nine when they married, and he was fifty-one. They had only one child. They moved to a mobile home near his family which was owned by his father at the time. His sister later bought the land. His sister raised the rent on him because his sister did not want him living there. R. 91, ll. 9 – R. 94, ll. 14.

Moon testified that he was not guilty of these charges. He never allowed his daughter to touch his penis, and he never touched her vagina. R. 90, ll. 19 – R. 91, ll. 8. He was completely surprised when he learned of the allegations. The only thing that had ever occurred was when he took a shower sometimes. There was only one bathroom in their mobile home so they never locked the door in case someone needed to use the bathroom while someone else was showering. Sometimes, when he took a shower, the child would pull the curtain back to talk to him. He always made her stop. R. 94, ll. 15 – R. 96, ll. 13.

In a pretrial motion, defense counsel objected to the forensic interview being admitted because it did not meet the guarantees of trustworthiness. Counsel argued that the child said in the interview that she had said all of this before to DSS, and there was no evidence of another interview with DSS. The only one was when the law enforcement investigator and the DSS worker talked to the child the first time at school. There was no mention of the CSC during that interview. Only the lewd act—the touching—was discussed. The CSC came out during the forensic interview. Because that interview was not trustworthy, counsel moved to “quash the CSC with a minor charge.” R. 5, ll. 10 – R.7, ll. 10.

Counsel had made every effort to obtain all of the discovery previously, and again moved for all of the discovery before trial. There was no evidence of any reference to an

interview with DSS. The solicitor responded that he had gone through the DSS files and could find no reference to any interview. He did not know what the child was referring to other than the school interview. R. 5, ll. 10 – R. 6, ll. 13.

Counsel argued that Jessie's Law or S.C. Code Section 17-23-175 provided the guidelines for the admission of the interview. However, counsel noted that this statute required a guarantee of trustworthiness. R. 6, ll. 14 – 25.

The judge asked if counsel were referring to the newest case law that came out in January. Counsel said she had that case and handed the judge the case of State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). The judge denied counsel's motion based on the totality of the whole interview. R. 7, ll. 11 – R. 8, ll. 4.

Later, when the solicitor asked the judge if he found that the DVD of the forensic interview had guaranteed trustworthiness under 17-23-175, the judge responded yes. R. 13, ll. 4 – 11.

When the state admitted the DVD of the forensic interview into evidence, defense counsel objected based on her previous argument. The judge ruled that the objection was made on the record, and his ruling was the same. R. 74, ll. 25 – R. 75, ll. 13.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting the DVD of the child's interview with the forensic interviewer because the DVD did not meet the guarantees of trustworthiness pursuant to S.C. Code Section 17-23-175 and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) and thus the court should remand for a new trial on all charges with the forensic interview excluded.

S.C Code Section 17-23-175 is titled: "Admissibility of out-of-court statement of child under twelve; determination of trustworthiness; notice to adverse party. Section 17-23-175 (B) provides guidelines to determine whether a statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. These include;

- (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions;
- (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children;
- (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense;
- (4) whether the statement has internal coherence.

The problem with the interview was that the child said she had given this same information to DSS, and there was no evidence. She did not provide the same information to the interviewer as she did in the first interview with law enforcement and the DSS worker. Time had expired and she had been in the company of her grandmother and her father's sister who wanted Moon to move from her property. Because her statement changed, trustworthiness as far as coherence and consistency was not guaranteed

In State v Kromah, *supra*, the Supreme Court wrote in Footnote Four:

The title of "forensic interviewer" is a misnomer. The use of the word forensic indicates that the interviewer deduces evidence suitable for

use in court. It also implies that the evidence is deduced as the result of the application of some scientific methodology. The exact scientific methodology applied apparently defies identification. The RATAC style of interviewing is not scientific. It merely represents the objectives and topics of discussion between the interviewer and the child. Somehow RATAC is supposed to convert the interviewer into a human truth-detector whose opinions of the truth are valuable and suitable for the jury's consumption.

Later, in Footnote Five, the Court continued to write:

Forensic interviewers might be useful as a tool to aid law enforcement officers in their initial investigative process, but this does not make their work appropriate for use in the courtroom.