ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2013-001793

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Michael Erwin Moon,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I The trial court did not abuse his discretion in finding the video met the requirements of section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code, and in particular, the requirement that it demonstrate particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not abuse his discretion in finding the video met the requirements of section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code, and in particular, the requirement that it demonstrate particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in finding the videotape of the forensic interview conducted with the victim failed to meet the requirements of section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code. Specifically, he contends the videotape fails to demonstrate particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. The trial court viewed the videotape and considered the requirements of section 17-23-175. The court properly found it contained particularized guarantees of trustworthiness and allowed it to be admitted into evidence.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). This Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 452, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000) (citing State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993) (appellate courts are bound by the trial court's fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law)).

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001); see also, State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court."). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling lacks any evidentiary

support or is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

Section 17-23-175 provides:

(A) In a general sessions court proceeding or a delinquency proceeding in family court, an out-of-court statement of a child is admissible if:

- (1) the statement was given in response to questioning conducted during an investigative interview of the child;
- (2) an audio and visual recording of the statement is preserved on film, videotape, or other electronic means, except as provided in subsection (F);
- (3) the child testifies at the proceeding and is subject to cross-examination on the elements of the offense and the making of the out-of-court statement; and
- (4) the court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(A) (Supp. 2013). Appellant has not challenged the first three requirements but has focused on whether “the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.” The statute provides factors for the trial court to consider in whether sufficient guarantees of trustworthiness are present:

(B) In determining whether a statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, the court may consider, but is not limited to, the following factors:

- (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions;
- (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children;
- (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense;
- (4) whether the statement has internal coherence; and
- (5) sworn testimony of any participant which may be determined as necessary by the court.

S.C Code Ann. § 17-23-175(B) (Supp. 2013).

In making his ruling, the trial court specifically stated: “I have watched the video. I understand your motion, but I think, considering the totality of the whole interview, the child’s comments and responses to questions that were provided, that I will deny that motion.” (T.38; R. 7) Later the trial court specifically stated he found the video to contain guarantees of trustworthiness. (T.44; R. 13)

A review of the video demonstrates the interviewer allowed the child to dictate where the interview went throughout the majority of the interview. She did not ask leading questions, but instead asked questions designed to allow the child to answer and explain. The video was internally consistent and coherent with no major missing details or information.

The child victim provided a detailed account of the abuse. She said it happened when she was about six and lasted until she was seven. She indicated her father touched her vagina on the outside and rubbed it. She indicated he also touched her bottom. She stated he made her rub his penis, and she would sometimes rub it using a rag. She indicated that Appellant would say “Ah, it feels good” when she was rubbing his penis. The child victim explained it happened while no one else was in the house and her mother was at work. The child then disclosed that Appellant also made her perform oral sex on him. She indicated the abuse occurred more than one time. The child victim also indicated the incidents of abuse occurred in the bedroom as well as the bathroom. Finally, she used dolls to demonstrate the way Appellant touched her and how she had to touch him. The child victim testified very similarly at trial. (State’s Exhibit 1, Video of Interview; T.60-63; R. 24-25)

The child victim does mention talking to DSS on the videotape, and this is the single comment used by Appellant to argue the videotape lacks particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. However, the evidence at trial supports the victim's statement she talked with DSS. When interviewed at the school, she was interviewed by law enforcement and a DSS worker. (T.112-113, 117; R. 51-52; 56). Further, on cross-examination the child victim indicated she knew of no other time she talked to DSS. (T. 68; R. 32). Nothing in the videotape indicates anything other than a properly conducted interview, and it contains proper guarantees of trustworthiness as found by the trial court. (State's Exhibit 1, Video of Interview).

Any discrepancies or additional details provided in the interview compared to other disclosures by the child could be, and were, brought out on cross-examination. Appellant's counsel asked the child victim whether she provided the same details. Specifically:

- Q. Now when you initially talked to your mom, you didn't say many details that you later said at the Julie Valentine Center [the location of the interview], did you?
- A. No, ma'am
- Q. And when you initially talked to DSS at the school, when you talked to them, you didn't say the details that you said at the Julie Valentine Center, did you?
- A. No, ma'am.

(T.67-68; R. 31-32). Based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding the video, the trial court properly found it contained the requisite particularized guarantees of trustworthiness and properly allowed it to be admitted into evidence. He did not abuse his discretion in his finding because the video provides ample support for the finding.

On appeal, Appellant also seems to argue the RATAAC method is not an appropriate method for conducting interviews of child victims. This issue was never raised at trial and is, therefore, not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one ground is raised to the trial court and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (same).

The argument is also entirely without merit. In State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the case relied on by Appellant, the Supreme Court was concerned with whether a forensic interviewer could be qualified as an expert witness. The Court found the RATAAC method was not established with a scientific basis to support the qualification of a witness as an expert. The Court did specifically find the method was designed as a means of conducting an investigatory interview. See Kromah, 401 S.C. at 357 n 5, 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. As a result, the interview complied with the factor the court could consider under section 17-23-175(B)(2). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in admitting the video of the interview conducted with the child victim under section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.